

LUND UNIVERSITY

Dissolved organic carbon in tropical watersheds Linking field observation and eco-hydrological modelling

Rizinjirabake, Fabien

2019

Document Version: Other version

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Rizinjirabake, F. (2019). Dissolved organic carbon in tropical watersheds: Linking field observation and ecohydrological modelling. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Dept of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science]. Lund University, Faculty of Science, Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science.

Total number of authors: 1

Creative Commons License: CC BY-NC

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Dissolved organic carbon in tropical watersheds

Linking field observation and eco-hydrological modelling

FABIEN RIZINJIRABAKE DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL GEOGRAPHY AND ECOSYSTEM SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Dissolved Organic Carbon in Tropical Watersheds

Dissolved organic carbon in tropical watersheds

Linking field observation and eco-hydrological modelling

Fabien Rizinjirabake



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Pangea auditorium. Thursday, May 23rd 2019 at 1:00 pm.

> Faculty opponent Professor Robert F. Chen University of Massachusetts Boston

| Organization | Document name | | |
|--|---|---|--|
| LUND UNIVERSITY | Document name | Document name | |
| Department of Physical Geography an | d Date of issue: | | |
| Ecosystem Science Sölvegatan 12 SE-223.62 Lund Swe | 2019-05-23 | | |
| Solvegatari 12, 32-223 02, Eurid, 3we | uen | | |
| Author: Fabien Rizinjirabake | Sponsoring organization: | Sponsoring organization: | |
| | University of Rwanda (UR) - | University of Rwanda (UR) - Sweden Partnership Program for | |
| | financed by Swedish Interna | financed by Swedish International Development Cooperation | |
| | Agency (SIDA) | · · | |
| Title and subtitle: Dissolved organic carbon in tropica | l watersheds: Linking field observati | on and ecohydrological modelling | |
| Abstract | | | |
| Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) is a important source of energy, carbon, a into aquatic ecosystems may contribu Ongoing climate and land cover char terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. A export is needed for better manageme and are therefore an interesting organ cover and climate variability on DOC of and climate variability on DOC, but environment. In this regard, this diss DOC mobilization and export in the R different carbon input and output proce from tropical watersheds. | a general description of the organic r nd nutrient transfers from terrestrial to ute to the carbon balance of terrestrial ages will affect both DOC generation a nassessment of land use land cover a ent of ecosystems. Watersheds are fun- nizational unit when used to understan- export. Some studies have been condu- t most were conducted in a tempera ertation focused on the impact of land u- Rukarara River Watershed (RRW), Rwa esses interact under climate and land co | naterial dissolved in water. DOC is an aquatic ecosystems. The export of DOC ecosystems and to water degradation. and transport, with implications for both ind climate variability's impacts on DOC damental units of ecosystem functioning d the combined effects of land use land cted to explore this impact of land cover ate environment and few in a tropical use land cover and climate variability on inda. The main aim is to determine how over variability to impact DOC emanating | |
| Data used for this study include land cover maps produced from satellite imagery, daily air temperature and precipitation, digital elevation models (DEMs), water stage, flow, net primary productivity (NPP), soil properties such as total organic carbon (TOC), total nitrogen (TN), cation exchange capacity (CEC), aluminum (AI), iron (Fe), and soil texture within the RRW. Field observations were used to quantify riverine DOC loads, soil water extractable organic carbon (WEOC), DOC in percolation water (pDOC) and leached DOC (LDOC) and to describe their spatial variation and relationships with the aforementioned factors. Statistical models (including simple and quadratic regressions, general linear model, linear mixed effect models) were used to predict DOC within the study area. An eco-hydrological model, the Regional Hydro-Ecological Simulation System (RHESSys), was used to simulate streamflow and link it with stream DOC within the study area. The results of this study show that land use land cover and climate change interact to produce soil WEOC, from which a significant fraction is transported into streams, mainly through overland flow and loaded by the Rukarara River. The riverine DOC loss was low compared to the NPP of the RRW, but may affect the function of both land and water resources with the study area. The RHESSys model detected the response of the watershed to climate variability within the RRW and captured the significant monthly variability in streamflow within the RRW. This result indicates the potential use of RHESSys to estimate streamflow in the natural forest, indicating the potential use of RHESSys model detected the response of the watersheds. Stream DOC concentration was explained by simulated streamflow in the natural forest, indicating the potential use of RHESSys model streamflow in the study watershed and similar ecosystems. Further studies should evaluate the performance of the RHESSys model to simulate other hydroecological processes in the tropical environment. | | | |
| Key words | | | |
| Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC), watershed, climate variability, land use land cover variability, field observations, ecohydrological modelling | | | |
| Classification system and/or index terms (if any) | | | |
| Supplementary bibliographical information Language: English | | Language: English | |
| ISBN (print): 978-91-985016-1- ISBN (PDF): 978-91-985016-2- | | ISBN (print): 978-91-985016-1-2 ISBN (PDF): 978-91-985016-2-9 | |
| Recipient's notes Number of pages: 61 Price | | Price | |
| Security classification | | 4 | |
| | - | | |

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Chu Rich

Date 2019-04-11

Dissolved organic carbon in tropical watersheds

Linking field observation and eco-hydrological modelling

Fabien Rizinjirabake



Cover photo by Fabien Rizinjirabake

Copyright pp 1-61 (Fabien Rizinjirabake)

Paper 1 © Elsevier

Paper 2 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 5 © Elsevier

Faculty of Science Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science

ISBN 978-91-985016-1-2

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2019





"The Earth will not continue to offer its harvest, except with faithful stewardship. We cannot say we love the land and then take steps to destroy it for use by future generations".

Saint John Paul II

Contents

| List of Papers | 11 |
|---|----------|
| Paper contributions | 12 |
| List of tables | 13 |
| List of figures | 13 |
| Abstract | 14 |
| Sammanfattning | 16 |
| Abbreviations | 17 |
| Introduction | 19 |
| What is DOC and why do we care about it? | 19 |
| Soil DOC production and climate change | 20 |
| Soil DOC export into natural waters | 22 |
| DOC simulation in watersheds | 23 |
| Problem statement | 25 |
| Aims and objectives | 27 |
| Materials and Methods | 29 |
| Study sites | 29 |
| Data used in this thesis | 30 |
| Hydroecological simulation | 33 |
| Results and discussion | 37 |
| Impact of LULC variability on DOC within the RRW | 37 |
| Impact of climate variability on DOC within the RRW | 39 |
| Antecedent precipitation, rainfall intensity and WEOC within the | 20 |
| KRW | 39 11 |
| Impact of surface, subsurface and groundwater flows on rivering DOC | |
| within the RRW. | 42 |
| Impact of riverine DOC loss on carbon budget in the RRW | 43 |
| Streamflow hydroecological modelling | 44 |
| Simulated streamflow and DOC in the natural forest basin | 46 |
| Conclusion and outlook | 49 |
| Acknowledgements | 51 |
| References | 53 |
| | |

List of Papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to their Roman numerals:

- I. Rizinjirabake, F., Abdi, A. M., Tenenbaum, D. E., & Pilesjö, P. (2018). Riverine dissolved organic carbon in Rukarara River Watershed, Rwanda. *Science of the Total Environment*, 643, 793-806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.194.
- II. Rizinjirabake, F., Pilesjö, P. & Tenenbaum, D. E.. Sources of soil dissolved organic carbon in a mixed agricultural and forested watershed in Rwanda (Submitted revised version under review in the Catena journal).
- III. Rizinjirabake, F., Pilesjö, P. & Tenenbaum, D. E.. Dissolved organic carbon leaching flux in a mixed agriculture and forest watershed in Rwanda (under review in the Journal of Hydrology – Regional Studies journal).
- IV. Rizinjirabake, F., Tenenbaum, D. E., Kharus A. S. E. & Pilesjö, P. Distributed hydroecological modelling of the Rukarara River Watershed, Rwanda (manuscript).
- V. Rizinjirabake, F., Abdi, A. M., Tenenbaum, D. E., & Pilesjö, P. (2018). Data for dynamics analysis of riverine dissolved organic in watersheds. *Data in Brief.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2018.08.171

Paper contributions

- I. Rizinjirabake Fabien was responsible for the design of the subproject, analyzed data and led the manuscript writing.
- II. Rizinjirabake Fabien was responsible for the design of the subproject, analyzed data and led the manuscript writing.
- III. Rizinjirabake Fabien was responsible for the design of the subproject, analyzed data and led the manuscript writing.
- IV. Rizinjirabake Fabien was responsible for the conceptualization; data curation; formal analysis; methodology, and manuscript writing.
- V. Rizinjirabake Fabien was responsible for the organization of data and led the manuscript writing.

List of tables

| Table 1 Summary of models. | 24 |
|-------------------------------------|----|
| Table 2 Summary of data | 32 |
| Table 3 Quadratic regression models | 39 |

List of figures

| Figure 1 Increased soil DOC production. | |
|---|--|
| Figure 2 Increased soil DOC production. | |
| Figure 3 Overview of the thesis. | |
| Figure 4 Map showing study sites | |
| Figure 5 Simplified framework of DOC | |
| Figure 6 Relationship between normalized soil properties | |
| Figure 7 Trend lines between LDOC. | |
| Figure 8 Trend lines between leached DOC | |
| Figure 9 Quadratic trend line of percolation water DOC | |
| Figure 10 Probability - flow relationships within the RRW | |
| Figure 11 Relationship between stream flow and DOC | |
| Figure 12 Variation of monthly streamflow within the RRW. | |
| Figure 13 Monthly distribution of RHESSys | |
| | |

Abstract

Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) is a general description of the organic material dissolved in water. DOC is an important source of energy, carbon, and nutrient transfers from terrestrial to aquatic ecosystems. The export of DOC into aquatic ecosystems may contribute to the carbon balance of terrestrial ecosystems and to water degradation. Ongoing climate and land cover changes will affect both DOC generation and transport, with implications for both terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. An assessment of land use land cover and climate variability's impacts on DOC export is needed for better management of ecosystems. Watersheds are fundamental units of ecosystem functioning and are therefore an interesting organizational unit when used to understand the combined effects of land use land cover and climate variability on DOC export. Some studies have been conducted to explore this impact of land cover and climate variability on DOC, but most were conducted in a temperate environment and few in a tropical environment. In this regard, this dissertation focused on the impact of land use land cover and climate variability on DOC mobilization and export in the Rukarara River Watershed (RRW), Rwanda. The main aim is to determine how different carbon input and output processes interact under climate and land cover variability to impact DOC emanating from tropical watersheds.

Data used for this study include land cover maps produced from satellite imagery, daily air temperature and precipitation, digital elevation models (DEMs), water stage, flow, net primary productivity (NPP), soil properties such as total organic carbon (TOC), total nitrogen (TN), cation exchange capacity (CEC), aluminum (Al), iron (Fe), and soil texture within the RRW. Field observations were used to quantify riverine DOC loads, soil water extractable organic carbon (WEOC), DOC in percolation water (pDOC) and leached DOC (LDOC) and to describe their spatial variation and relationships with the aforementioned factors. Statistical models (including simple and quadratic regressions, general linear model, linear mixed effect models) were used to predict DOC within the study area. An ecohydrological model, the Regional Hydro-Ecological Simulation System (RHESSys), was used to simulate streamflow and link it with stream DOC within the study area. The results of this study show that land use land cover and climate change interact to produce soil WEOC, from which a significant fraction is transported into streams, mainly through overland flow and loaded by the Rukarara River. The riverine DOC loss was low compared to the NPP of the RRW, but may affect the function of both land and water resources with the study area. The RHESSys model detected the response of the watershed to climate variability within the RRW and captured the significant monthly variability in streamflow within the RRW. This result indicates the potential use of RHESSys to estimate streamflow in the RRW and similar tropical watersheds. Stream DOC

concentration was explained by simulated streamflow in the natural forest, indicating the potential use of RHESSys model simulated streamflow to predict stream DOC in the study watershed and similar ecosystems. Further studies should evaluate the performance of the RHESSys model to simulate other hydroecological processes in the tropical environment.

Sammanfattning

Löst organiskt kol (DOC) är en allmän beteckning på organiskt material upplöst i vatten. DOC är en viktig källa för energi, kol och näring som överförs från markbundna till akvatiska ekosystem. Exporten av DOC till akvatiska ekosystem kan bidra till kolbalansen i markbundna ekosystem och till försämrad vattenkvalitet. Pågående klimat- och markförändringar kommer att påverka både genereringen och transporten av DOC, med implikationer för både markbundna och akvatiska ekosystem. En bedömning markanvändning av klimatvariationers inverkan på exporten av DOC behöver göras för att bättre ekosystemen. Avrinningsområden fundamentala kunna hantera är för ekosystemets funktion och är därför intressanta för förståelsen för hur de kombinerade effekterna av markanvändning, gröngödsling och klimatvariationer påverkar exporten av DOC. Ett mindre antal studier har utförts för att undersöka hur marktäckning och klimatvariation påverkar DOC men de flesta har genomförts i tempererat klimat och endast få i tropiskt klimat. I denna avhandling har jag fokuserat på hur markanvändning, marktäckning och klimatvariationer har påverkat mobiliseringen och exporten av DOC i Rukarara River Watershed (RRW), Rwanda. Huvudsyftet är att bestämma hur DOC i tropiska avrinningsområden påverkas av växelverkan mellan olika processer för in- och utflöde av kol under varierade klimat- och marktäckningsförhållanden.

Data som har används för denna studie innefattar marktäckningskartor som skapats med utgångspunkt från satellitbilder, daglig temperatur i luft, nederbörd, DEMs. flodens vattennivå och flöde, nettoprimärproduktion (NPP), jordegenskaper som totalt organiskt kol (TOC), total kvävemängd (TN), katjonbyteskapacitet (CEC), aluminium (Al), järn (Fe) samt jordstruktur inom RRW. Fältobservationer har använts för att kvantifiera flodbaserat DOC, extraherbart organiskt kol i markvatten (WEOC), DOC i perkolationsvatten (pDOC) samt urlakat DOC (LDOC) för att beskriva deras rumsliga variation och relationer till ovannämnda faktorer. Statistiska modeller (inklusive linjär och kvadratisk regression, generell linjär modell samt modeller för linear mixed effect) har använts för att förutse DOC inom det studerade området. En ekohydrologisk modell, Regional Hydro-Ecological Simulation System (RHESSys), har använts för att simulera DOC-flöden inom det studerade området. Resultaten från denna studie visar att markanvändning och klimatförändring växelverkar för att skapa jord-WEOC, av vilket en signifikant del har transporterats till bäckar, huvudsakligen genom att rinna över marken, som leder till Rukararafloden. Förlusten av DOC till floden var låg jämfört med NPP i RRW, men kan tänkas påverka funktionen av både mark- och vattenresurser i det studerade området.

Abbreviations

| A.D: | Anno Domini ("in the year of the Lord") | |
|-------------------|--|--|
| AAS: | Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy | |
| AIC: | Akaike Information Criterion | |
| Al: | Aluminum | |
| ANOVA: | Analysis Of Variance | |
| API: | Antecedent precipitation index | |
| BEPS-terrainLab: | Boreal Ecosystem Productivity Simulator (BEPS) | |
| | model coupled to terrainLab model | |
| BIOME-BGC: | Biome BioGeochemical Cycles model | |
| CEC: | Cation Exchange Capacity | |
| CGIS-UR: | Centre of Geographic Information and Remote | |
| | Sensing of the University of Rwanda | |
| CN: | Curve Number | |
| CO ₂ : | Carbon dioxide | |
| CS: | Centre Site | |
| DEM: | Digital Elevation Model | |
| DHSVM: | Distributed Hydrology Soil Vegetation Model | |
| DOC: | Dissolved Organic Carbon | |
| DOM: | Dissolved Organic Matter | |
| EcoHAT: | Eco-Hydrological Assessment Tool | |
| ES: | Eastern Site | |
| Fe: | Iron | |
| FB: | Farm basin | |
| GLM: | Generalized Linear Models | |
| GPS: | Global Positioning System | |
| HSD: | Honest Significant Difference | |
| HSG: | Hydrologic Soil Groups | |
| IPCC: | Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change | |
| LDOC: | Leached Dissolved Organic Carbon | |
| LM: | Linear Model | |
| LME: | Linear Mixed Effect model | |
| LOI: | Loss On Ignition | |
| LULC: | Land Use Land Cover | |
| MASL: | Meter above sea level | |
| MAT: | Mean Antecedent Temperature | |

| MODIS: | Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectro-radiometer | | |
|------------|--|--|--|
| MT-CLIM: | Mountain Climate Simulator | | |
| NF: | Natural forest basin | | |
| NPP: | Net Primary Productivity | | |
| ORNL DAAC: | Oak Ridge National Laboratory Distributed Active | | |
| | Archive Center | | |
| pDOC: | percolation water DOC | | |
| pH: | hydrogen potential | | |
| Qi: | water flow | | |
| Ra: | Rainfall amount | | |
| REML: | Restricted Maximum Likelihood | | |
| RHESSys: | Regional Hydro-Ecological Simulation System | | |
| Ri: | Rainfall intensity | | |
| RRW: | Rukarara River Watershed | | |
| RWFA: | Rwanda Water and Forest Authority | | |
| SI: | Spatial Index | | |
| SOC: | Soil Organic Carbon | | |
| SOM: | Soil Organic Carbon | | |
| SP: | Slope position | | |
| SSR: | Sum of Squared Residuals | | |
| SWAT: | Soil and Water Assessment Tool | | |
| TB: | Tea basin | | |
| TN: | Total Nitrogen | | |
| TOC: | Total Organic Carbon | | |
| TOPOG: | Terrain analysis-based hydrologic modelling | | |
| | package | | |
| TPI: | Topographic Position Index | | |
| VIC: | Variable Infiltration Capacity | | |
| WEOC: | Water Extractable Organic Carbon | | |
| WS: | Western site | | |

Introduction

What is DOC and why do we care about it?

Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) is the fraction of total organic carbon that can pass through a filter below 0.45 μ m in size. DOC may contain amino acids, simple carbohydrates, a fraction of microbial biomass, and other simple organic compounds, fractions of humic acids of low molecular weight, as well as other numerous simple organic compounds (Gonet and Debska, 2006; Zou et al., 2005). DOC is a broad practical classification for organic molecules of varied composition within soils (soil DOC) and aquatic systems (water DOC). Soil DOC is a labile natural part of soil solution (Schwalm and Zeitz, 2014); it is the chemical and microbial degradable carbon that is physically accessible by soil microbes (Zou et al., 2005). Water DOC originates from within a body of water from aquatic plants or algae (autochthonous DOC) and from the external environment to a body of water from land areas (allochthonous DOC).

Soil DOC is linked with its capacity to supply nutrients (Sucker and Krause, 2010); its export to water may cause both land and water degradation. Land degradation is an environmental problem that threatens food and energy security (Lobell et al., 2008, biodiversity (Maitima et al., 2009), resilience to climate change (Neely et al., 2009) and induces migration (Mélanie, 2008), offsite problems such as sedimentation and carbon emissions affecting climate change (Mupenzi et al., 2011). Soil DOC plays also a role in soil aggregation and erosion control, acid-base balance and exchange capacity in the soil, mobilization and export of nutrients, bioavailability and ecotoxicology of heavy metals, transformation and transport of organic contaminants (Arnold et al., 2010). In addition, it plays an important role in carbon cycling in watersheds: It causes 25% - 50% of the annual loss of carbon in forest-floor (Kalbitz et al., 2000). As the mobile fraction of soil organic matter (SOM), DOC represents a key vehicle for the translocation and loss of soil nutrients (Hagedorn et al., 2004). Regarding natural water degradation, high DOC concentrations can result in brown water, with a negative impact on drinking water purification and water recreational value. Also, high DOC concentrations reduce light penetration in water, and this affects the aquatic productivity and thereby aquatic food chain (Erlandsson et al., 2011). Additionally, high DOC in water affects predator-prey interactions (Stasko et al.,

2012) and, coupled to nitrogen and phosphorus, induces eutrophication processes (Aparicio et al., 2016). However, a reasonable amount of water DOC plays a key role in aquatic ecosystem function: It is a potential source of carbon and energy for heterotrophic organisms and thus contributes significantly to aquatic ecosystem metabolism. Understanding the dynamics of soil and water DOC is, therefore, important for better management of land and water resources.

Over the past two decades, a significant amount of allochthonous DOC has been exported into natural waters and, therefore, increased water DOC concentrations across large parts of the world. This increase of DOC in natural waters can increase CO_2 production in aquatic ecosystems, exacerbating global warming. Increased water DOC input may stimulate heterotrophic metabolism and thus CO_2 production. Also, increased water DOC affects water color with, eventually, a shading effect that negatively impacts on water primary production by decreasing atmospheric CO_2 uptake by water primary producers, thus increasing CO_2 . The increased DOC may acidify the water and, consequently, decrease water pH with a subsequent increase in CO_2 . Understanding water and soil DOC dynamics is therefore important for implementing effective global warming mitigation.

Soil DOC production and climate change

Soil DOC is the outcome of processes that depend on climate: soil organic matter (SOM) production, decomposition, mineralization and sorption (Kalbitz et al., 2000). The CO₂:DOC production ratio increases with warming, meaning that DOC production increases with temperature due to enhanced photosynthesis under higher CO₂ conditions (Cox et al., 2013). But Moore et al. (2008) indicated that DOC mineralization is even more temperature sensitive, especially in the tropics. Thus, high DOC production is offset by high decomposition of old soil carbon, induced by the microbial priming effect. This microbial priming effect is an extra decomposition of organic carbon after the addition of easily decomposable organic substances to the soil (Kuzyakov, 2010; Dalenberg and Jager, 1989) or nutrients such as, for example, nitrogen (Léon et al., 1995; Jenkinson et al., 1985;), phosphorus (Fokin and Radzhabova, 1996), and sulfur (Chapman, 1997; Lefroy et al., 1994; O'Donnell et al., 1994) or other soil treatments such as drying and rewetting (Kuzyakov, 2010). Under climate change, the microbial priming effect is induced by increased photosynthesis consequent to higher CO₂ and precipitation, and this has positive implications for rooting depth and exudates. These exudates increase the activity of soil microorganisms, resulting in acceleration of SOM mineralization or microbial biomass turnover in the rhizosphere (Figure 1). However, this microbial priming effect is not always straightforward (Zimmerman et al., 2011). For example, SOM decomposition increased up to 5-fold or decreased by up to 30% in the presence of plant residues (Nottingham et al., 2009; Bell et al., 2003) or root exudates (Cheng and Lehmann, 2009; Kuzyakov, 2002).



Figure 1 Increased soil DOC production stimulated by high soil old carbon decomposition induced by the microbial priming effect.

Climate change also impacts on soil DOC production through its effects on carbon and nitrogen interactions. Increased photosynthesis under higher CO_2 negatively affects soil nitrogen availability (Figure 2); more soil nitrogen is taken up by plants. Such nitrogen-limited conditions suppress the CO_2 fertilization effect on canopy assimilation (Maaroufi et al., 2015) thus limiting organic matter production and, therefore, soil DOC. Under these conditions of limited soil nitrogen, fungi decompose lignin and the resulting increase of soil nitrogen can cause a shift from fungal to bacterial decomposers, with less SOM decomposition and thus less soil DOC (Maaroufi et al., 2015). The lignin decomposition leads to a positive feedback in response to rising atmospheric CO_2 , whereas the shift from fungal to bacterial decomposers leads to a limited CO_2 fertilization effect, and consequently less soil DOC.



Figure 2 Increased soil DOC production stimulated by high old soil carbon decomposition (arrow +E) induced by the nitrogen priming effect (arrows +A and +B) through a lower carbon to nitrogen ratio. Additionally, the figure shows effect of high old soil carbon decomposition on atmospheric CO_2 (arrow + C), photosynthesis (arrow + D), soil nitrogen availability (arrow + E), and other interrelations within the cycle (arrows G to L).

Soil DOC export into natural waters

The export of soil DOC from the terrestrial system to the aquatic ecosystem is fundamental for the global carbon cycle, because it is an interface between terrestrial and marine carbon cycling (Richey et al., 2004). The soil DOC delivery processes, include leaching, groundwater retention and discharge, floodplain and riparian zone exchange and retention, and waste discharge. The spatial delivery scale is local, whereas the temporal scale varies from days for point sources and surface runoff, to days to weeks or months for riparian zones, and from weeks to years for shallow aquifers, and years to centuries for deep aquifers (Bouwman et al., 2013).

Soil DOC export depends on many factors including hydrology, temperature, land use land cover, mineral soil absorption, hydraulic soil conductivity, dry-wet cycle of hydrological conditions, surface and sub-surface runoff, landscape position, transformations between particulate, dissolved and gaseous phases that may occur during the transport, and DOC redox reactivity (Williams et al., 2010; Mattsson et al., 2009; Blair et al., 2004; Webster et al., 1999). Changes in temperature may influence DOC export from soils by altering decomposition and mineralization of organic matter (Sucker and Krause, 2010). Increased precipitation alters the water budget and discharge, which then increases DOC concentrations (Hongve et al., 2004). Land use changes influence the retention and the export of organic carbon from watersheds (Johnson et al., 2009). Landscape position along a hillslope affects biophysical processes such as infiltration, erosion, sedimentation and insolation that, in turn, affect DOC inputs and losses (Balkcom et al., 2005).

The riparian zone is the main source of DOC entering streams independent of upslope conditions (Strohmeier et al., 2013; Dick et al., 2015; Ledesma et al., 2015). Lateral DOC fluxes from riparian zone to streams are limited to only a fraction of the total riparian zone, with most lateral DOC fluxes occurring within predominant flow paths (Ledesma et al., 2015). Riparian zones have filtering capacity to retain and release nutrient and sediment (Ranalli and Macalady, 2010). The transport of DOC from floodplains to streams dominates during wetter periods, whereas deeper sources dominate during dry periods (Tiwari et al., 2014; Dick et al., 2015). The role of leaching process on soil DOC depends on soil properties and vegetation (Fujii et al., 2011). For example, soil ionic strength and pH influence organic matter solubility, whereas ferric and aluminum oxides or hydroxides and clay determine the sorption process (Chantigny, 2003) where high adsorption reduces DOC leaching (Kalbitz et al., 2000).

DOC simulation in watersheds

Contemporary environmental problems are being approached more and more on the geographic basis of the watershed to understand ecosystem processes and responses to climate change and land-cover (Tetzlaff et al., 2013). From this perspective, process-based models have been developed to simulate soil DOC export into rivers (see Table 1). Some models of this sort focus on soil absorption (Yurova et al., 2008), hydrological rainfall-runoff processes (Xu et al., 2012), DOC production (Wu et al., 2014), some combination of DOC production, soil absorption and leaching functions, or combination of ecological and hydrological processes (Futter et al., 2009). The latter approach is interesting because it can include the effects of climatic, hydrological, biogeochemical and ecological processes and their interrelations in soil and water (Palmer and Bernhardt, 2006; Krysanova et al., 2005). Hydrological processes interact with climate and terrestrial vegetation to determine water availability and flow regimes. These flow regimes and their interaction with soils influence ecological processes such as nutrient cycling. In return, ecological processes and patterns influence water availability (Palmer and Bernhardt, 2006). Hydroecological models are important tools for studying the mechanisms of ecological patterns and processes and for assessing the effects of environmental change on hydrological and ecological processes (Chen et al., 2014).

Table 1

Summary of models used to understand ecosystem hydrological and eco-hydrological processes.

| Model types | Goal | Examples |
|---------------------------------------|---|---|
| One-way coupling models | Describe biophysical properties such as canopy interception, rainfall interception, infiltration, and evapotranspiration to simulate hydrological processes without considering the impact of hydrological processes on physiological or biochemical processes of the vegetation. | Distributed Hydrology Soil Vegetation Model (DHSVM) (Wigmosta et al., 1994) Variable Infiltration Capacity (VIC) (Liang et al., 1994). |
| Mutually coupling models | Simulate hydrological and ecological processes considering vegetation dynamic change in the leaf, root depth and litter, and changes in the soil | (See examples for below model types) |
| Conceptual models | moisture. Couple hydrological models with parametric models such as light-use efficiency models or empirical crop growth models | Soil and Water Assessment Tool (SWAT) (Arnold et al., 1998) Eco-Hydrological Assessment Tool (EcoHAT) (Liu et al., 2009). |
| Semi-physical process based models | Discretize the watershed into fully distributed space units and describe interaction between the dynamic growth of the vegetation and hydrology | TOPOG model (o'Loughlin, 1986) |
| Physical process based models | Describe physiological processes and mechanisms such as photosynthesis, couple vegetation biochemical processes and hydrological processes and characterize finally hydrological processes particularly the effects of soil | Regional Hydro-Ecological Simulation System (RHESSys) model (Band et al., 1993) BEPS-TerrainLab (Govind et al., 2009) |
| | moisture on the vegetation biochemical process. | |

Problem statement

The Earth's climate is changing in both temperature and precipitation patterns due to the emission of carbon greenhouse gases to the atmosphere, altering its heat-trapping capacity (IPCC, 2007). This changing climate can have both immediate and long lasting effects on primary production, accumulation and export of soil organic carbon into natural waters, and therefore on carbon balance. There is debate about the amount of carbon stored in, and emitted from, terrestrial ecosystems (Le Quéré et al., 2016). Quantifying this carbon balance is a challenge, as the interactions between climate change and land use land cover (LULC) on carbon export into natural waters are not well understood (Moss et al., 2011; Matthews and Caldeira, 2008). Sources and destinations of carbon fluxes from the land to water, especially for dissolved organic carbon (DOC), are still unclear (Yang et al., 2013). There is a need to understand how changing climate and other disturbance regimes, such as land use land cover change, combine to give a particular signature to DOC export.

DOC export to waters may cause both soil and natural water degradation. Land degradation is a global problem that affects at least a quarter of the global land area (Lal et al., 2012), seriously undermining the livelihoods in all agro-ecologies across the world (Nkonya et al., 2011). Land degradation reduces biological products, including food, and carbon sequestration services of the land ecosystem (Le Quéré et al., 2016). Also, soil DOC export threatens soils' potential to mitigate climate change (Neely et al., 2009; Stockmann et al., 2013). Development activities such as agriculture, urbanization, forestry and industries often lead to more intensive land use, which increases runoff, and consequent transport of pollutants directly into the natural waters. Land and water degradation results in decreasing ecosystem resilience and provision of environmental services (Costanza et al., 1997). Land and water degradation threaten food security for many of the poorest and most food insecure living in Asia, Africa and Latin America (Kaiser, 2004). Land and water degradation is a challenge that must then be tackled to preserve ecosystem resilience and provision of environmental services and meet poverty alleviation goals. As it is ubiquitous in terrestrial ecosystems, DOC can serve as a sensitive indicator of land and water natural water degradation through shifting in ecological processes (Bolan et al., 2011; Srinivasarao et al., 2014).

Watersheds are fundamental units of ecosystem functioning, and thus can help us to better understand combined effects of changing climate and land use land cover on DOC export. This is important in order to identify mitigation strategies for healthy watersheds that maintain their balanced nutrient cycling, energy, and services such as water quality and food for people and wildlife. Some studies on DOC export dynamics have been conducted, but most of them are focused on temperate watersheds, and very few on tropical watersheds. There is a need for such studies in tropical watersheds, where coupled climate–carbon-cycle models indicate that carbon storage on land will increase due to the simultaneous enhancement of plant photosynthesis and water use efficiency under higher atmospheric CO2 concentrations, or will decrease due to higher soil and plant respiration rates associated with warming temperatures (Cox et al., 2013).

Aims and objectives

The aim of this research is to determine how different carbon input and output processes interact under climate and land cover variability to impact DOC from tropical watersheds. A key uncertainty is the degree to which tropical watersheds respond to climate driven changes in hydrology and DOC export. Understanding this could help to develop effective integrated watershed policies that can build resilience to the impacts of climate and land cover changes and protect watershed services. This research is focused on soil water DOC mobilization and transfers, to better understand their dynamics (Figure 3). Within the study area, the specific objectives of the research are the following:

- 1. Quantifying water DOC loads to estimate to what extent riverine DOC affects the carbon budget in the study area (Papers I and V);
- 2. Investigating soil WEOC concentration and quantifying the effect of topography, land cover, rainfall amount and intensity, mean average temperature and soil properties on its variation (Paper II);
- 3. Investigating leached DOC flux and factors controlling its variation in the study area (Paper III);
- 4. Simulating water flow and linking it with stream DOC contents in the Rukarara River basin using the Regional Hydroecological Simulation System (RHESSys) model (Paper IV).



Figure 3 Overview of the thesis.

Materials and Methods

Study sites

The research presented here includes field studies (Papers 1, 2, 3, and 5) and a simulation study (Paper 4). All studies were carried out in the Rukarara River Watershed, a mixed agriculture and forest watershed in Southwestern Rwanda. Three sites were selected in the watershed: The Eastern site (ES), the Centre site (CS) and the Western site (WS) (Figure 4). The ES and CS sites were located areas dominated, respectively, by small crops and tea plantations. The WS was located in the Nyungwe National Park, a primary mountainous rainforest forest. The watershed drains an area of 493.5km² and its landscape is composed of mountainous terrain with elevations from 1,541 to 2,924 MASL and slopes from 0° to 68°. More detailed information on the study watershed was provided in the following papers.



Figure 4 Map showing study sites within the study area, the Rukarara River Watershed.

Data used in this thesis

This project used various kinds of data, including field measurements, laboratory analysis data, spatial data, historical data, and literature-based data. Field measurements include rainfall, air temperature, and water stage data. Rainfall data were recorded using tipping bucket rain gauges with integrated data loggers (OMC-210-2). Air temperature data were recorded using temperature sensors (automatic pressure transducer stage gauges with integrated data logger PT2X and mini-divers). Water stage data were measured at the three small river sites and at the Rukarara River outlet using current meters (small and medium size) and the aforementioned automatic pressure transducers.

Laboratory analysis data included samples of soil collected in topsoil (0–20cm depth), stream water, percolation water, and leached water. Soil samples were used to analyze soil water extractable organic carbon (WEOC) and physico-chemical

soil properties including total organic carbon (TOC), total nitrogen (TN), iron (Fe ppm), aluminum (Al ppm), and cation Exchange Capacity (CEC), clay content, sand content, and silt content. WEOC was analyzed using a modified version of the Zhang et al. (2011) method, whereas stream DOC, percolation water (pDOC), and leached waters (LDOC) was analyzed on a TOC analyzer. Soil texture elements were analyzed using the improved Bouyoucos method (Bouyoucos, 1962); TOC (%) by the Loss On Ignition (LOI) method (Davies, 1974); TN (%) by the micro-Kjeldahl digestion - distillation method (Bremner, 1996); Fe and Al (ppm) by the Sodium tetraborate method followed by the atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS) method, and the CEC (mEq/100g) by the Sodium acetate method (Taiwan, 1994).

Regarding spatial data, this research project utilized land use land cover maps derived from remote sensing imagery (for the years 2008 and 2015), a 10m digital elevation model (DEM), net primary productivity (NPP) derived from remote sensing imagery, soil depth, and GPS data. The land use land cover map for the year 2008 was obtained from Wasige et al. (2014), whereas the land use land cover map for the year 2015 was developed based on a 6.5 m ground resolution RapidEye satellite image of the study area. The 10 m DEM was provided by the Centre of Geographic Information and Remote Sensing of the University of Rwanda (CGIS-UR). Soil depth and soil texture data were provided by CGIS-UR. NPP data were Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) (MOD17A3: 500 m \times 500 m) data (ORNL DAAC, 2018; Running and Zhao, 2015). GPS data were collected during sampling campaigns.

Historical rainfall and temperature data were provided by Meteo Rwanda, whereas historical flow data were provided by the Rwanda Water and Forest Agency (RWFA) and the Rukarara Hydropower Station. Curve number (CN) values were selected according to the Mockus (1969) handbook, whereas HSGs data were retrieved from the ORNL DAAC (HYSOGs250m) (Ross et al., 2018). Vegetation physiological parameters and soil parameters, required to run the RHESSys model, were derived from Peng et al. (2016). The use of all of the above data in their respective papers is summarized in the following Table 2.

Table 2

| Data type | Use | Paper number |
|---------------------|--|--------------|
| Rainfall | To determine relationship between WEOC and rainfall through antecedent precipitation index (API). | Paper 2 |
| | Data in brief | Paper 5 |
| | As input data for running RHESSys model | Paper 4 |
| Air temperature | To determine relationship between WEOC and temperature through mean antecedent temperature (MAT). | Paper 2 |
| | Data in brief | Paper 5 |
| | As input data for running RHESSys model. | Paper 4 |
| Water stage | To produce rating curves necessary to predict non-measured flow data that have been used in estimation of annual DOC load. | Paper1 |
| Soil properties | To determine responses of DOC to soil properties within the study area. | Paper 2 |
| WEOC | To quantify soil DOC and its relationship with LULC, soil properties, and landscape attributes. | Paper 2 |
| sDOC | To calculate DOC loadings | Paper 1 |
| pDOC | To determine the effect of climate variability on soil DOC. | Paper 2 |
| LDOC | To quantify the effect of leaching process on soil DOC. | Paper 3 |
| Land cover | To calculate spatial distribution index (SI) used in turn to describe the influence of LULC on DOC loading. | Paper 2 |
| | To calculate curve number (CN), area and mean slope for each LULC class | Paper 3 |
| | As input data to run the RHESSys model | Paper 4 |
| DEM | To calculate topographic position index (TPI) used to identify slope position (SP) | Paper 2 |
| | To calculate Topographic Wetness Index (TWI) used to describe the topography of different LULC classes and to quantify overland flow and therefore the combined effects of LULC and topography on DOC loading. | Paper 1 |
| | To delineate watershed boundary, to calculate slope, identify elevation data | Papers 1- 4 |
| Soil depth | As input data to run the RHESSys model | Paper 4 |
| NPP | To calculate daily NPP and to estimate the impact of stream DOC loading on the carbon sequestration within the study area. | Paper 1 |
| | Data in brief | Paper 5 |
| GPS data | To map sampling sites and points, and rain gauge and sensors locations | Papers 1- 4 |
| Historical rainfall | To fill in missing data | Paper 2 |
| Historical flow | To calibrate the RHESSys model simulated flow | Paper 4 |

Summary of data used in this thesis and their use in different papers

A series of statistical techniques and models were used in this thesis to compare DOC values, to evaluate the controlling effects on DOC, to predict DOC values, or to determine relationships between DOC and climate variability, soil properties, LULC and landscape attributes. A t-test was used to test the statistical difference between two DOC values. A one-way ANOVA with the post hoc Tukey honest significant difference approach (Tukey HSD) and the Spearman's rank correlation were used to evaluate the effects of, respectively, LULC and slope position (SP) on WEOC (Paper 1).

Various predictions were performed in this thesis using simple linear models (LM), quadratic models, power function, generalized linear models (GLM) and linear mixed-effects models (LME). LMs that summarize and study relationships between two continuous variables were used to predict WEOC as a function of soil properties (Paper 1), and LDOC flux as a function of rainfall amount (Ra) and intensity (Ri), on the one hand, and O and F on the other hand (Paper 3). GLMs that analyze fixed effects were used to estimate the fixed effects of soil properties including TOC, TN, Al, CEC, Fe, and soil texture elements on WEOC (Paper 1). GLMs that analyze both fixed and random effects were used to model WEOC and LDOC. Fixed effects are defined as the effects of covariates, whereas random effects are effects of factors whose levels are sampled from a larger population (Bolker et al., 2009). LMEs assume normal distributed residuals and are appropriately applied to repeated data that are likely to be correlated. Fitted to repeatedly-measured data, LMEs involve the estimation of covariance parameters to capture this correlation. In the Paper 1, LMEs analyzed fixed effects of soil properties and random effects of sites (East, Center and West) and LULC (natural forest, plantation forest, tea plantation, and cropland) on WEOC. In Paper 3, LMEs analyzed fixed effects with respect to LULC (forests and cropland) for Q and F and in respect with site (WS, CS, ES) on LDOC. The quadratic model was used to determine the relationships between pDOC, precipitation and temperature via API and MAT (Paper 1), whereas the power function was used to determine the relationship between stage and flow on one hand, and between DOC and flow on other hand (Paper 2).

LME models were fitted by the restricted maximum likelihood (REML) method, which has the advantage of producing unbiased estimates of variance and covariance parameters (Liu et al., 2017). LMEs were evaluated by using the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), which was found optimal by Yang (2005) for selecting a model with the optimal balance between minimal mean squared error and minimal complexity.

Hydroecological simulation

Apart from statistical models, the Regional Hydro-Ecological Simulation System (RHESSys) model was applied in this thesis to simulate DOC concentration and flux in the study area. The RHESSys model has already been successfully applied to many watersheds to simulate DOC flux (e.g.: Yang et al., 2013; Rouhani et al., 2014). The carbon cycling in the RHESSys model includes the estimation of photosynthesis, vegetation respiration, vegetation allocation and turnover rates, organic matter decomposition rate. Photosynthesis is estimated by the Farquhar photosynthesis model (Farquhar and von Caemmerer, 1982), vegetation

respiration by the Ryan model (Ryan, 1991), and the vegetation allocation processes by the 3-PG model (Landsberg and Waring, 1997) or the Dickenson et al. (1998) model. The vegetation turnover rate is determined by vegetation specific parameters that are scaled by environmental factors. Soil and decomposition rates are based on the work of Thornton (1998). Both soil and litter pools are associated with C:N ratios and a potential decay rate, including carbon lost and carbon transferred to soil or litter pools. Soil and litter respiration are computed as percentage of decomposition rates. Details about sub-models and corresponding mathematical equations used in the RHESSys model can be found in Tague and Band (2004).

During carbon cycling in RHESSys model, plants fix carbon from atmospheric CO2 through photosynthesis, whose rate depends on nutrient availability, water availability, incoming radiation, and temperature. A portion of fixed carbon is used for plant respiration; another portion is allocated to the various parts of plants for their respiration, growth and maintenance (first carbon pool). Within RHESSys modeling, the Landsberg and Waring (1997) partitioning strategy is used in RHESSys model to estimate species-specific allocation ratios. Nutrient availability affects the amount of carbon allocated to roots, with a greater proportion going to roots on infertile sites than those on fertile sites. The remaining fixed carbon continuously gives rise to litter and soil organic carbon (secondary carbon pools). DOC in soil solutions is produced from theses secondary pools via decomposition processes (Figure 5). The decomposition rate is calculated using base decomposition rates for the litter and soil pools before it is scaled by soil temperature, nutrient availability and soil water content.

The RHESSys model simulates hydrological processes, including lateral and vertical flows and, thus, the DOC flux associated with these flows. The rainfall that reaches the soil surface after being intercepted by the canopy strata infiltrates into soil layers following Philip's infiltration equation (Philip, 1957). The RHESSys model uses a three layer model (root zone, unsaturated zone, and saturated zone) to simulate vertical rainfall water fluxes. The vertical movement of water through the soil profile is based on hydraulic conductivity and pressure gradient at the boundary of the saturated and unsaturated zones. When the soil layers are saturated, the lateral flow carries the DOC out from the soil. The DOC transport depends on soil porosity, decay rate of soil porosity, soil depth at defined layers (root zone, unsaturated and saturated zones), soil DOC availability, DOC distribution with depth, DOM production rate, DOC absorption rate, and soil water content.

All rainfall water exceeding the soil storage capacity is routed to one or more downslope patches within one time step, whereas only a portion of the patch's subsurface water store is routed to the downslope patches following an exponential transmissivity decay model. Lateral drainage of saturated water is routed to streams via surface flow, shallow subsurface flow, or groundwater depending on topography and soil characteristics.



Figure 5 Simplified framework of DOC simulation in the RHESSys model.

A text document called a worldfile was used to reference input maps with landscape, soil and land cover characteristics, and vegetation physiological traits of the study area for RHESSys initialization state variables. Soil physical characteristics and vegetation physiological traits of the study area characteristics were all defined in default files (soil and vegetation default files). Remote sensing and in situ data can both be used as inputs to simulate watershed dynamics using the Regional Hydro-Ecological Simulation System (RHESSys) (Nemani et al., 2009; Tague and Band 2004). A flow table was used to describe the connectivity between the patch objects. Patch objects were created from the 10m DEM, the soil map, and the land use/land cover map. The RHESSys model, through its hydrological models, used this information to model subsurface and overland flow routing. The MT-CLIM sub-model (Running et al., 1987) used topography and climate satiation variables to model the spatial distribution of climate variables over the study area. An ecophysiological model based on BIOME-BGC (Running

and Coughlan, 1988; Running and Hunt, 1993) in conjunction with a hillslope hydrology model based on DHSVM (Wigmosta et. al, 1994) was used to estimate carbon, water and nutrient fluxes.

Results and discussion

Impact of LULC variability on DOC within the RRW

Stream DOC, WEOC, pDOC and LDOC decrease from natural forest to cropland sites within the RRW. Our results are consistent with Camino-Serrano et al. (2014) and Were et al. (2015), who both found that natural forests have higher DOC than other types of vegetation due to their higher inputs of detritus to the soils (Eclesia et al., 2012). The higher DOC in the natural forest within the RRW is due to the important accumulation of TOC, from which DOC is mobilized. Within the RRW, Wasige et al. (2014) found higher organic carbon stock in the natural forest compared to other LULC classes. TOC is the raw material from which DOC is produced, and positively affects the rates, extent, and pathways of microbial degradation. This preponderant role of TOC on DOC mobilization was confirmed by results that show TOC to have the highest correlation coefficient (0.60) with WEOC compared to other soil properties (TN, CEC, and Al) whose relationships with WEOC are statistically strong at significance level of 5% within the study area (Figure 6).



Figure 6 Relationship between normalized soil properties and WEOC and the corresponding correlation coefficients in the RRW. Figure from Paper 2.

The lowest stream DOC, soil WEOC, pDOC and LDOC in cropland sites is explained by the loss of SOM that followed the conversion of the natural forest to croplands. Oslo (1996) indicated that the soil of Rwanda has been farmed since at least 300 A.D. The conversion from forest to agriculture lands decreased soil organic carbon (SOC) stocks via soil structure degradation by increased water erosion rates, and SOC export from fields (Grimaldi et al., 2003; Don et al., 2011). Also, the conversion from natural forest to cropland greatly influenced the characteristics of soil carbon and nitrogen and impacted on the amount and quality of litter input, the litter decomposition rates and the processes of SOM stabilization in soils, and the quantity and quality of soil microorganisms (Soosaar et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2007).

Impact of climate variability on DOC within the RRW

Antecedent precipitation, rainfall intensity and WEOC within the RRW

High pDOC was observed when the values of the antecedent precipitation index (API) were at their optima and the natural forest showed the highest R2 (Table 3). Additionally, LDOC flux increases with both the rainfall amount (Ra) and mean rainfall intensity (Ri) in the RRW (Figure 8). The effect of API on pDOC is consistent with the results of Wen et al. (2006), Saidy (2013) and Sierra et al., (2015), that all observed an increase in carbon decomposition with increased soil water content. Optimal API causes high soil water content and consequently high diffusion of soil DOC (Taggard et al., 2012). Optimal API represents optimal antecedent wetness that is important for SOM dissolution, microbial activity and DOC lateral and vertical fluxes. A decrease of pDOC after it reaches its optimum can be explained by excess of soil moisture that dilutes microbial enzymes and affects substrate concentration and oxygen diffusion at the enzyme reaction site (Wen at al. 2006) reducing SOM decomposition rate into DOC.

Table 3

Quadratic regression models of percolation water DOC (pDOC) as a function of APIs, their coefficients of determination and squared errors within the RRW. Table adapted from Annexes A-C, Paper 2.

| Sites | NAD | Quadratic regression models | R ² | SSR |
|-------|-----|---|----------------|----------|
| NF | 21 | pDOC=-5E-04API ² +0.07API+3.72*** | 0.17* | 137.79** |
| TP | 7 | pDOC=-16E-04API ² +0.13API+4.21*** | 0.14* | 165.92** |
| CL | 56 | pDOC=-11E-04API ² +0.10API+2.10*** | 0.12* | 224.99** |

NAD: number of antecedent days with the highest R²; NF: Natural forest site; TP: Tea plantation site; CL: Cropland site; pDOC: percolation water DOC; API: antecedent precipitation index of the corresponding number of antecedent days; *: the highest squared R; **: the least SSR; ***: the best quadratic regression model.

Antecedent wetness was found to be negatively correlated with the soil capacity to store rainwater in the RRW (Figure 7). The study showed an inverse relationship between LDOC flux and rainwater soil storage capacity on LDOC in the RRW. This inverse relationship could be associated with soil infiltrability (Eigel and Moore, 1983). As soils store rainwater, the infiltration water and, therefore, LDOC flux decreased. With increased rainfall storage, fine particles moved down in the soil profile to 0.1–0.5 mm depth and accumulated, clogging conducting pores, decreasing infiltration water volume but generating more overland flows (Agassi et al., 1981). When these overland flows were initiated, subsequent raindrop

impacts lifted organic carbon particles into the flows and increased the turbulence of these flows, which in turn enhanced the erosive power of overland flows (Bradford et al., 1987). This lift of organic carbon particles into overland flows progressively decreased DOC concentration in infiltration water and therefore LDOC flux. This decrease of LDOC flux is probably exacerbated by high slopes (mean slope = 44.27%) within the RRW.



Figure 7 Trend lines between LDOC flux, actual rainfall storage and potential runoff in the RRW. Figure from Paper 3.

Rainfall intensity (Ri) was found to be in a direct relationship with LDOC flux. The direct relationship between LDOC and Ri could be associated with shortened initial breakthrough of percolation and increased percolate volume under high intensity rainfall. The latter has been found to be more effective in detaching soil (Morgan, 1978, Van Dijk, et al., 2002). Under high rainfall intensities, significant portions of rainfall water likely moved through macropores and produced most of the percolation (Ma et al., 2014; Edwards et al., 1992). Also, physical protection of soil organic carbon (SOC) was removed by water erosion and when raindrop-impacted aggregates were broken down, DOC was released. High rainfall intensities can move great amount of DOC and therefore increase LDOC flux.



Figure 8 Trend lines between leached DOC (LDOC), rainfall and rainfall intensity in the RRW. Figure from Paper 3.

Mean average temperature and DOC within the RRW

The highest pDOC was observed at the natural forest site with the lowest temperature $(13.99^{\circ}C)$ and the highest WEOC (0.69g/L) compared to other sites (Tea: 18.54 °C; 0.42g/L; Farm: 20.33°C and 0.29 g/L respectively). This result can be explained by high SOM that may be intrinsically sensitive to temperature and, therefore, may need low activation energy to initiate the decomposition process and mobilize DOC at the site. The low activation energy effect combines with SOM of high quality at the site to mobilize more DOC as compared to tea plantations and croplands sites. Mean TN at the natural forest site is 0.08%, exactly double the mean TN at tea and cropland sites. High TN favors soil carbon-decomposing microorganisms in terms of amount and quality. These microorganisms, under favorable conditions of temperature and soil moisture, decompose and produce more pDOC in soil solution at the natural forest site as compared to the other sites.



Figure 9 Quadratic trend line of percolation water DOC as a function of MAT in natural forest. Figure from Paper 2.

The convex up relationship between pDOC and MAT (Figure 9) indicating high pDOC at lower temperatures, can be explained by low utilization of soil DOC by microorganisms. The relative decrease of the pDOC with intermediate temperatures can be due to the decline of soil DOC as it was utilized by microorganisms. As the temperatures increase, microorganisms increase their physiological and metabolic processes rates such as enzyme production (A'Bear et al., 2014). The higher pDOC at higher temperatures is then explained by microbial activity on both easily decomposable and/or highly stable organic carbon (A'Bear et al., 2012; Deressa, 2015). pDOC is probably enhanced by increased projected temperature and precipitation in the study area (Paeth et al., 2009). Temperature

increase will then positively influence terrestrial organic carbon production, its decomposition to DOC, leaching and, therefore, transport into streams.

Impact of surface, subsurface and groundwater flows on riverine DOC within the RRW

Flow duration curve analysis revealed that the quick flow component is a very important stream flow component within the RRW (Figure 10).



Figure 10 Probability - flow relationships within the RRW for a two-year period from March 2015 to February 2017. Letters A, B, C and D represent the relationship for the stream in natural forest, tea, farm and outlet. Figure from Paper 1.

Our results indicated groundwater contributions ranging from 1.20 to 2.73%, meaning quick flow contributions of 97.27 to 98%. Quick flow includes runoff, interflow and direct precipitation; all of which mobilize and transport DOC into streams and rivers. This result is confirmed by the observation of high riverine DOC during high flow periods (Figure 11) and the low impact of leaching on

topsoil carbon. Topsoil LDOC flux to deeper soil layers represents 0.5% of the annual NPP and 0.02% of the soil carbon stock in the RRW. The quick flow role in riverine DOC can be associated with the steeper slopes found in the RRW (mean slopes =44.27%), which favor runoff and not leaching.



Figure 11 Relationship between stream flow and DOC in the RRW. Letters A, B, C and D correspond to the streams at natural forest, tea, farm and outlet stations. Equations represent the power function of the relationship between discharge and stream DOC at the sites and the corresponding coefficient of determination (R²). Figure from Paper 1.

Impact of riverine DOC loss on carbon budget in the RRW

DOC riverine loading is 8.44% of the daily NPP of the RRW (Paper 1). This riverine DOC is low compared to its NPP, but is higher than global riverine DOC loss (5%) (Lal et al., 2013). DOC loss through riverine loading is low, but could have direct consequences for the net carbon balance in the watershed, and can constrain its productivity, as long as soil DOC is linked with a soil's capacity to supply nutrients (Sucker and Krause, 2010). Soil DOC loss is associated with the loss of soil nutrients and this may exacerbate soil degradation in the study area and

therefore reduce crop production with direct consequences on food security. A drastic decline in soil organic matter can degrade soil structure, lead to erosion, and reduce agricultural productivity (Stocking, 2003). In terms of ecosystem function, DOC riverine loss can cause shifts in primary productivity, decomposition, leaching/discharges, and/or transport in both terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems (Clark et al., 2010).

Streamflow hydroecological modelling

Our results indicated less than satisfactory performance of RHESSys model in simulating stream flow and low explained variation of stream DOC by simulated streamflow in the farm basin (Paper 4). Possible inaccuracies in landscape representation may have come in estimates of climate, soil, vegetation, and landscape attributes and from fine-scale heterogeneity in soil drainage characteristics. Additionally, streamflow calibration does not completely resolve errors in soil parameter estimates (Beven and Freer, 2001). These types of errors in model input data may explain unsatisfactory performance of our implementation of the RHESSys model to simulate stream flow of the farm basin. It may also be that our representation of this landscape simply does not include the significant anthropogenic influences on this landscape that are exerted in terms of cropping and water management practices.



Figure 12 Variation of monthly streamflow within the RRW. Figure parts NF, TB, and FB show the natural forest, tea and farm basins, respectively; "sim" indicates RHESSys simulated streamflow and "obs" indicates simulated Thornthwaite streamflow.

Simulated streamflow and DOC in the natural forest basin

RHESSys simulated streamflow explained 85% of the variance of monthly stream DOC in the natural forest (Figure 5 from Paper 4). The poor prediction of stream DOC by simulated flow data in the farm and tea basins could be due to high variance of stream DOC in these locations, as compared to that found in the natural forest basin. This is likely mainly due to human activities, and their insufficient representation in our simulations. For example, we realized during sampling campaigns that some parts of buffer zone were cultivated. This could have had a significant impact on the export of organic matter in the farm and tea basins, and could only have been effectively simulated and quantified with detailed information about cultivation practices, describing precisely when and how they were applied.



Figure 13 Monthly distribution of RHESSys simulated stream flow and observed stream DOC within the RRW. NF, TB, and FB stand, respectively, for the natural forest, tea, and farm basins.

Conclusion and outlook

This dissertation has investigated the dynamics of DOC in a mixed agriculture and forest watershed, focusing on its mobilization and export. The following are the main conclusions linked to the main aims:

- 1. Riverine DOC loading from the study watershed is low compared to its NPP, but is higher than global average riverine DOC loss, and may measurably affect the carbon budget in the study area.
- 2. The land use land cover, through its control on soil total organic carbon (TOC), is the overarching factor explaining soil WEOC dynamics within the study area. In return, TOC can be sufficiently predicted by WEOC in the study watershed. Land use cover change from forest to land crop will decrease soil DOC and, therefore, exacerbate land degradation within the studied watershed.
- 3. The annual LDOC flux from topsoil was 2% of the net primary productivity (NPP), and LULC was the main controlling factor, with the highest LDOC flux within plantation forest. Land cover change from cropland to plantation forest will increase LDOC within the RRW with implications on groundwater quality.
- 4. The RHESSys model detected the response of the watershed to climate variability within the natural forest basin and captured the significant monthly variability in streamflow within the basin. This result indicates the potential use of RHESSys to estimate streamflow in forest basin and similar tropical watersheds.
- 5. Hydrological and stream dissolved organic carbon data for a three-year period in a tropical watershed were produced. The data are useful in water resource management, ecosystem restoration and conservation.

This dissertation has studied DOC mobilization and export using field observations, and statistical and eco-hydrological modelling approaches. The acquired knowledge and data can be used for further research and management of watersheds. For example, most riverine DOC was found to be transported by overland flow. This information is useful for watershed managers, who can choose to enhance existing anti-erosive practices. Some DOC and associated nutrients, such as nitrogen, can leach from soils into adjacent streams (Lal et al., 2013). An excess of DOC and nitrogen has impacts on groundwater quality (Jahangir et al., 2012). To give some insights into the impact of landscape DOC and nitrogen on groundwater quality within the studied watershed or similar watersheds, further research can use our methodology and data. The majority of DOC in terrestrial and aquatic environments is ultimately returned to the atmosphere as CO_2 (Bolan et al., 2011) CH₄. Our results for DOC within different LULC classes can be used in such research on CO_2 and CH_4 dynamics within the study area. Our results can be also used in future research into soil nutrients deletion and metal transport into stream waters, given that DOC is known to act as a key vehicle for the translocation and loss of soil nutrients into waters (Hagedorn et al., 2004). Streamflow simulation was successfully calibrated and validated at the monthly scale in the RRW using the RHESSys model. This result indicates the potential use of RHESSys to estimate hydroecological processes in the forest basin and similar tropical watersheds.

Acknowledgements

This thesis was made possible by financial support from University of Rwanda -Sweden Program for Research, Higher Education and Institutional Advancement, financed by Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA).

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors, David Tenenbaum and Petter Pilesjö, for their support during this PhD journey. I am glad about your inspiring discussion and encouragement during our research meetings and all the times I came to you. I learned a lot from you, professionally and personally. Thank you for everything you have taught me, your patience, and your passion for research was an inspiration to me. I have been lucky to have supervisors with great expertise, ideas, suggestions, and solutions. I am very delighted by your working environment. And thank you for being there when I needed you. Thank you for all you have done to make this PhD a success.

I am deeply indebted to several people from University of Rwanda for their help: To the team at UR-Sweden coordination office in Kigali, thank you so very much for all you have done to make this training a success. Many thanks to Gaspard Rwanyiziri, Theophile Niyonzima; John Mugisha, Donat Nsabimana, Wali Umali, Theoneste Muhizi, and Hubert Rudakemwa. I am happy of your right help.

My special thanks to all Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science (INES) staff and PhD students for their support and friendship. It was Special thanks to my office mates for great time we spent together, Anders Ahlström, Nitin Chaudry, Jan Blanke, Patrick Lakomiec, and Joel White. We did not only share about the task of a PhD but we shared also thoughts about life and culture. Thank you for your trust, clear thoughts and your support about all.

Many thanks for the help received on hydrological field experimental set-up and data collection from John E. Wasige. Thanks you Professor Naomi Tague for your training on RHESSys model and invaluable assistance in the calibration process. I wish to acknowledge the invaluable contribution of, Mr. Isacaar Ndayisabye, my field assistant, for his contribution to my research project and long hours in the field under the tropical hot sun of the summer and the quasi perpetual rain of the Nyungwe rainforest. My thanks go to farmers and local community of the study area for their support during the field campaigns. Thanks a lot Thomas Karlsson for your help in abstract translation into Swedish language. Thank you so much.

I want to thank all my family and friends for supporting me and giving me time to work on this project. I am grateful to my wife Yvonne and our sons: H. Urbain, L. Bertrand and J.F Regis for their exceptional patience during my absence from home. I love you! I dedicate the thesis to you.

Finally, I thank you all who supported me in different ways during my PhD journey. I would like to express my apology that I could not here mention your names.

References

- A'Bear, A. D., Boddy, L., & Hefin Jones, T. (2012). Impacts of elevated temperature on the growth and functioning of decomposer fungi are influenced by grazing collembola. *Global Change Biology*, 18(6), 1823-1832. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02637.x
- A'Bear, A. D., Jones, T. H., Kandeler, E., & Boddy, L. (2014). Interactive effects of temperature and soil moisture on fungal-mediated wood decomposition and extracellular enzyme activity. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 70, 151-158.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.12.017
- Agassi, M., Shainberg, I., & Morin, J. (1981). Effect of electrolyte concentration and soil sodicity on infiltration rate and crust formation 1. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 45(5), 848-851. https://doi:10.2136/sssaj1981.03615995004500050004x
- Aparicio, F. L., Nieto-Cid, M., Borrull, E., Calvo, E., Pelejero, C., Sala, M. M., ... & Marrasé, C. (2016). Eutrophication and acidification: Do they induce changes in the dissolved organic matter dynamics in the coastal Mediterranean Sea?. Science of the Total Environment, 563, 179-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.108
- Arnold, J. G., Srinivasan, R., Muttiah, R. S., & Williams, J. R. (1998). Large area hydrologic modeling and assessment part I: Model development1. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.1998.tb05961.x
- Arnold, W., Cotsifas, J. S., Ogle, R. S., DePalma, S. G., & Smith, D. S. (2010). A comparison of the copper sensitivity of six invertebrate species in ambient salt water of varying dissolved organic matter concentrations. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 29(2), 311-319. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.45
- Assessment, IPCC Scientific. "Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change." UK Meteorological (2007).
- Balkcom, K. S., Terra, J. A., Shaw, J. N., Reeves, D. W., &Raper, R. L. (2005). Soil management system and landscape position interactions on nutrient distribution in a Coastal Plain field. *Journal of soil and water conservation*, 60(6), 431-437.
- Band, L. E., Patterson, P., Nemani, R., & Running, S. W. (1993). Forest ecosystem processes at the watershed scale: incorporating hillslope hydrology. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 63(1-2), 93-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-1923(93)90024-C
- Bell, J. M., Smith, J. L., Bailey, V. L., & Bolton, H. (2003). Priming effect and C storage in semi-arid no-till spring crop rotations. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 37(4), 237-244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-003-0587-4
- Bellmore, R. A., Harrison, J. A., Needoba, J. A., Brooks, E. S., & Kent Keller, C. (2015). Hydrologic control of dissolved organic matter concentration and quality in a

semiarid artificially drained agricultural catchment. *Water Resources Research*, *51*(10), 8146-8164. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015WR016884

- Beven, K., & Freer, J. (2001). Equifinality, data assimilation, and uncertainty estimation in mechanistic modelling of complex environmental systems using the GLUE methodology. Journal of hydrology, 249(1-4), 11-29
- Blair, N. E., Leithold, E. L., &Aller, R. C. (2004). From bedrock to burial: the evolution of particulate organic carbon across coupled watershed-continental margin systems. *Marine Chemistry*, 92(1), 141-156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marchem.2004.06.023
- Bolan, N. S., Adriano, D. C., Kunhikrishnan, A., James, T., McDowell, R., &Senesi, N. (2011). Dissolved organic matter: biogeochemistry, dynamics, and environmental significance in soils. *Advances in agronomy*, *110*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385531-2.00001-3
- Bolker, B. M., Brooks, M. E., Clark, C. J., Geange, S. W., Poulsen, J. R., Stevens, M. H. H., & White, J. S. S. (2009). Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 24(3), 127-135.b. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.10.008
- Bouwman, A. F., Bierkens, M. F. P., Griffioen, J., Hefting, M. M., Middelburg, J. J., Middelkoop, H., &Slomp, C. P. (2013). Nutrient dynamics, transfer and retention along the aquatic continuum from land to ocean: towards integration of ecological and biogeochemical models. *Biogeosciences*, 10(1), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-1-2013
- Bouyoucos, G.J. (1962). Hydrometer method improved for making particle size analysis of soils. Agron. J. 54:464-465.
- Bradford, J. M., Ferris, J. E., & Remley, P. A. (1987). Interrill Soil Erosion Processes: II. Relationship of Splash Detachment to Soil Properties 1. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 51(6), 1571-1575. https://doi:10.2136/sssaj1987.03615995005100060030x
- Bremner, J. M. (1996). Nitrogen-total. *Methods of Soil Analysis Part 3—Chemical Methods*, (methodsofsoilan3), 1085-1121.
- Camino-Serrano, M., Gielen, B., Luyssaert, S., Ciais, P., Vicca, S., Guenet, B., ... & Borken, W. (2014). Linking variability in soil solution dissolved organic carbon to climate, soil type, and vegetation type. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 28(5), 497-509. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/2013GB004726
- Chantigny, M. H. (2003). Dissolved and water-extractable organic matter in soils: a review on the influence of land use and management practices. *Geoderma*, *113*(3), 357-380. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7061(02)00370-1
- Chapman, S. J. (1997). Carbon substrate mineralization and sulphur limitation. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29(2), 115-122. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(96)00302-1
- Chen, B., Zhang, X., Tao, J., Wu, J., Wang, J., Shi, P., ...& Yu, C. (2014). The impact of climate change and anthropogenic activities on alpine grassland over the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 189, 11-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2014.01.002

- Cheng, C. H., & Lehmann, J. (2009). Ageing of black carbon along a temperature gradient. Chemosphere, 75(8), 1021-1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.01.045
- Clark, J. M., Bottrell, S. H., Evans, C. D., Monteith, D. T., Bartlett, R., Rose, R., ... & Chapman, P. J. (2010). The importance of the relationship between scale and process in understanding long-term DOC dynamics. *Science of the Total Environment*, 408(13), 2768-2775. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.02.046
- Costanza, R., de Groot, R., Braat, L., Kubiszewski, I., Fioramonti, L., Sutton, P., ... & Grasso, M. (1997). Ecosystem services. *Nature*, *387*, 253-260. https://doi.org/10.1038/387253a0
- Cox, P. M., Pearson, D., Booth, B. B., Friedlingstein, P., Huntingford, C., Jones, C. D., & Luke, C. M. (2013). Sensitivity of tropical carbon to climate change constrained carbon dioxide variability. *Nature*, 494(7437), 341-344. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11882
- Dalenberg, J. W., & Jager, G. (1989). Priming effect of some organic additions to 14Clabelled soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 21(3), 443-448. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(89)90157-0
- Davies, B. E. (1974). Loss-on-ignition as an estimate of soil organic matter. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 38(1), 150-151. https://doi:10.2136/sssaj1974.03615995003800010046x
- De la Paix Mupenzi, J., Li, L., Ge, J., Varenyam, A., Habiyaremye, G., Theoneste, N., & Emmanuel, K. (2011). Assessment of soil degradation and chemical compositions in Rwandan tea-growing areas. *Geoscience Frontiers*, 2(4), 599-607. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gsf.2011.05.003
- Deressa, A. (2015). Effects of soil moisture and temperature on carbon and nitrogen mineralization in grassland soils fertilized with improved cattle slurry manure with and without manure additive. *J Environ Hum*, 2, 1-9.
- Dick, J. J., Tetzlaff, D., Birkel, C., & Souls, C. (2015). Modelling landscape controls on dissolved organic carbon sources and fluxes to streams. *Biogeochemistry*, 122(2-3), 361-374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-014-0046-3
- Dickinson, R. E., Shaikh, M., Bryant, R., & Graumlich, L. (1998). Interactive canopies for a climate model. *Journal of Climate*, 11(11), 2823-2836.
- Don, A., Schumacher, J., & Freibauer, A. (2011). Impact of tropical land-use change on soil organic carbon stocks–a meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology*, 17(4), 1658-1670.
- Eclesia, R. P., Jobbagy, E. G., Jackson, R. B., Biganzoli, F., & Piñeiro, G. (2012). Shifts in soil organic carbon for plantation and pasture establishment in native forests and grasslands of South America. *Global Change Biology*, *18*(10), 3237-3251. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02761.x
- Edwards, W. M., Shipitalo, M. J., Owens, L. B., & Dick, W. A. (1992). Rainfall intensity affects transport of water and chemicals through macropores in no-till soil. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *56*(1), 52-58.
- Eigel, J. D., & Moore, I. D. (1983). Effect of rainfall energy on infiltration into a bare soil.
- Erlandsson, M., Cory, N., Fölster, J., Köhler, S., Laudon, H., Weyhenmeyer, G. A., & Bishop, K. (2011). Increasing dissolved organic carbon redefines the extent of

surface water acidification and helps resolve a classic controversy. BioScience, 61(8), 614-618. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2011.61.8.7

- Farquhar, G. D., & Von Caemmerer, S. (1982). Modelling of photosynthetic response to environmental conditions. In *Physiological plant ecology II* (pp. 549-587). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Fokin, A. D., & Radzhabova, P. A. (1996). Availability of phosphates in soils as a function of the state and transformation of organic matter. *Eurasian Soil Science*, 29(11), 1216-1221.
- Fujii, K., Hartono, A., Funakawa, S., Uemura, M., & Kosaki, T. (2011). Fluxes of dissolved organic carbon in three tropical secondary forests developed on serpentine and mudstone. *Geoderma*, 163(1-2), 119-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.04.012
- Futter, M. N., Forsius, M., Holmberg, M., & Starr, M. (2009). Modelling the impact of European emission and climate change scenarios on dissolved organic carbon concentrations the surface waters of a boreal catchment. *Hydrology Research*, 40, 291-305.
- Gonet, S. S., &Debska, B. (2006). Dissolved organic carbon and dissolved nitrogen in soil under different fertilization treatments. *Plant Soil and Environment*, 52(2), 55.
- Govind, A., Chen, J. M., Margolis, H., Ju, W., Sonnentag, O., &Giasson, M. A. (2009). A spatially explicit hydro-ecological modeling framework (BEPS-TerrainLab V2. 0): Model description and test in a boreal ecosystem in Eastern North America. *Journal of Hydrology*, 367(3), 200-216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.01.006
- Grimaldi, M., Schroth, G., Teixeira, W. G., Huwe, B., & Sinclair, F. (2003). Soil structure. *Trees, Crops and Soil Fertility*, 191-208.
- Hagedorn, F., Saurer, M., & Blaser, P. (2004). A ¹³C tracer study to identify the origin of dissolved organic carbon in forested mineral soils. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 55(1), 91-100. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2389.2003.00578.x
- Hongve, D., Riise, G., & Kristiansen, J. F. (2004). Increased colour and organic acid concentrations in Norwegian forest lakes and drinking water–a result of increased precipitation?.*Aquatic Sciences*, 66(2), 231-238. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-004-0708-7
- Jahangir, M. M., Khalil, M. I., Johnston, P., Cardenas, L. M., Hatch, D. J., Butler, M., ... & Richards, K. G. (2012). Denitrification potential in subsoils: a mechanism to reduce nitrate leaching to groundwater. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 147, 13-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2011.04.015
- Jenkinson, D. S., Fox, R. H., & Rayner, J. H. (1985). Interactions between fertilizer nitrogen and soil nitrogen—the so-called 'priming'effect. *Journal of soil Science*, 36(3), 425-444.
- Johnson, L. T., Tank, J. L., & Arango, C. P. (2009). The effect of land use on dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen uptake in streams. *Freshwater Biology*, 54(11), 2335-2350.
- Kaiser, J. (2004). Wounding earth's fragile skin. https://doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02261.x

- Kalbitz, K., Solinger, S., Park, J. H., Michalzik, B., & Matzner, E. (2000). Controls on the dynamics of dissolved organic matter in soils: a review. *Soil science*, 165(4), 277-304.
- Kuzyakov, Y. (2002). Factors affecting rhizosphere priming effects. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, *165*(4), 382-396.
- Kuzyakov, Y. (2010). Priming effects: interactions between living and dead organic matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 42(9), 1363-1371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.04.003
- Lal, R., Lorenz, K., Hüttl, R. F., Schneider, B. U., & Von Braun, J. (Eds.). (2013). *Ecosystem services and carbon sequestration in the biosphere* (p. 464). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Lal, R., Safriel, U., & Boer, B. (2012, May). Zero net land degradation: A new sustainable development goal for Rio+ 20. In *A report prepared for the Secretariat of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification*.
- Landsberg, J. J., & Waring, R. H. (1997). A generalised model of forest productivity using simplified concepts of radiation-use efficiency, carbon balance and partitioning. *Forest ecology and management*, 95(3), 209-228. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(97)00026-1
- Le Quéré, C., Andrew, R. M., Canadell, J. G., Sitch, S., Korsbakken, J. I., Peters, G. P., ... & Keeling, R. F. (2016). Global carbon budget 2016. *Earth System Science Data* (Online), 8(2). https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-8-605-2016
- Ledesma, J. L., Grabs, T., Bishop, K. H., Schiff, S. L., &Köhler, S. J. (2015). Potential for long-term transfer of dissolved organic carbon from riparian zones to streams in boreal catchments. *Global change biology*, 21(8), 2963-2979. 10.1111/gcb.12872
- Lefroy, R. D., Chaitep, W., & Blair, G. J. (1994). Release of sulfur from rice residues under flooded and non-flooded soil conditions. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 45(3), 657-667.
- Léon, M., Lainé, P., Ourry, A., & Boucaud, J. (1995). Increased uptake of native soil nitrogen by roots of Lolium multiflorum Lam. after nitrogen fertilization is explained by a stimulation of the uptake process itself. *Plant and Soil*, 173(2), 197-203.
- Liu, C., Yang, S., Wen, Z., Wang, X., Wang, Y., Li, Q., & Sheng, H. (2009). Development of ecohydrological assessment tool and its application. *Science in China Series E: Technological Sciences*, 52(7), 1947-1957. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11431-009-0199-9
- Liu, Y., Luo, F., Zhang, D., & Liu, H. (2017). Comparison and robustness of the REML, ML, MIVQUE estimators for multi-level random mediation model. *Journal of Applied Statistics*, 44(9), 1644-1661. https://doi.org/10.1080/02664763.2016.1221904
- Lobell, D. B., Burke, M. B., Tebaldi, C., Mastrandrea, M. D., Falcon, W. P., & Naylor, R. L. (2008). Prioritizing climate change adaptation needs for food security in 2030. *Science*, 319(5863), 607-610.
- Ma, D., Gao, B., Xia, C., Wang, Y., Yue, Q., & Li, Q. (2014). Effects of sludge retention times on reactivity of effluent dissolved organic matter for trihalomethane formation

in hybrid powdered activated carbon membrane bioreactors. *Bioresource technology*, *166*, 381-388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.05.082

- Maaroufi, N. I., Nordin, A., Hasselquist, N. J., Bach, L. H., Palmqvist, K., & Gundale, M. J. (2015). Anthropogenic nitrogen deposition enhances carbon sequestration in boreal soils. Global change biology, 21(8), 3169-3180. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12904
- Maitima, J. M., Mugatha, S. M., Reid, R. S., Gachimbi, L. N., Majule, A., Lyaruu, H., ...&Mugisha, S. (2009). The linkages between land use change, land degradation and biodiversity across East Africa. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 3(10). Matthews, H. D., &Caldeira, K. (2008). Stabilizing climate requires near-zero emissions. *Geophysical research letters*, 35(4). https://doi.org/10.1029/2007GL032388
- Mattsson, T., Kortelainen, P., Laubel, A., Evans, D., Pujo-Pay, M., Räike, A., & Conan, P. (2009). Export of dissolved organic matter in relation to land use along a European climatic gradient. *Science of the total Environment*, 407(6), 1967-1976. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.11.014
- Mélanie, R. D. (2008). Social Costs of Desertification in Africa: The case of migration. In *The Future of Drylands* (pp. 569-581). Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6970-3_50
- Mockus, V. (1969). Hydrologic soil-cover complexes. SCS National Engineering Handbook: Section 4. Hydrology, 10-1.
- Moore, T. R., Trofymow, J. A., Siltanen, M., &Kozak, L. M. (2008). Litter decomposition and nitrogen and phosphorus dynamics in peatlands and uplands over 12 years in central Canada. *Oecologia*, 157(2), 317-325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-008-1076-0
- Morgan, R. P. C. (1978). Field studies of rain splash erosion. *Earth Surface Processes*, 3(3), 295-299. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.3290030308
- Moss, B., Kosten, S., Meerhof, M., Battarbee, R., Jeppesen, E., Mazzeo, N., ...&Paerl, H. (2011). Allied attack: climate change and eutrophication. *Inland waters*, 1(2), 101-105. DOI: 10.5268/IW-1.2.359
- Neely, C., Bunning, S., & Wilkes, A. (2009). Review of evidence on drylands pastoral systems and climate change. FAO.
- Nemani, R., Hashimoto, H., Votava, P., Melton, F., Wang, W., Michaelis, A., ... & White, M. (2009). Monitoring and forecasting ecosystem dynamics using the Terrestrial Observation and Prediction System (TOPS). *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 113(7), 1497-1509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.06.017
- Nkonya, E., Gerber, N., von Braun, J., & De Pinto, A. (2011). Economics of land degradation. *IFPRI Issue Brief*, 68.
- Nottingham, A. T., Griffiths, H., Chamberlain, P. M., Stott, A. W., & Tanner, E. V. (2009). Soil priming by sugar and leaf-litter substrates: a link to microbial groups. Applied Soil Ecology, 42(3), 183-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2009.03.003
- Nottingham, A. T., Griffiths, H., Chamberlain, P. M., Stott, A. W., & Tanner, E. V. (2009). Soil priming by sugar and leaf-litter substrates: a link to microbial groups. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 42(3), 183-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2009.03.003

- O'donnell, A. G., Wu, J., & Syers, J. K. (1994). Sulphate-S amendments in soil and their effects on the transformation of soil sulphur. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 26(11), 1507-1514. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(94)90092-2
- O'loughlin, E. M. (1986). Prediction of surface saturation zones in natural catchments topographic analysis. *Water Resources Research*, 22(5), 794-804. https://doi.org/10.1029/WR022i005p00794
- Olson, J. M. (1994). Land degradation in Gikongoro, Rwanda: problems and possibilities in the integration of household survey data and environmental data. Michigan: Department of Geography and the Center for Advanced Study of International Development, Michigan State University.
- ORNL DAAC. 2018. MODIS and VIIRS Land Products Global Subsetting and Visualization Tool. ORNL DAAC, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, USA. Accessed October 02, 2018. Subset obtained for MOD17A3H product at 2.46S,29.45E, time period: 2010-01-01 to 2014-01-01, and subset size: 32.5 x 24.5 km. https://doi.org/10.3334/ORNLDAAC/1379
- Paeth, H., Born, K., Girmes, R., Podzun, R., & Jacob, D. (2009). Regional climate change in tropical and northern Africa due to greenhouse forcing and land use changes. *Journal of Climate*, 22(1), 114-132. 10.1175/2008JCLI2390.1
- Palmer, M. A., & Bernhardt, E. S. (2006). Hydroecology and river restoration: Ripe for research and synthesis. *Water Resources Research*, 42(3). https://doi.org/10.1029/2005WR004354
- Peng, H., Tague, C., & Jia, Y. (2016). Evaluating the eco-hydrologic impacts of reforestation in the Loess Plateau, China, using an eco-hydrologic model. *Ecohydrology*, 9(3), 498-513. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.1652
- Philip, J. R. (1957). The theory of infiltration: 4. Sorptivity and algebraic infiltration equations. *Soil science*, *84*(3), 257-264.
- Ranalli, A. J., &Macalady, D. L. (2010). The importance of the riparian zone and in-stream processes in nitrate attenuation in undisturbed and agricultural watersheds–A review of the scientific literature. *Journal of Hydrology*, 389(3), 406-415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.05.045
- Rouhani, S. (2018). Assessing the Role of Climate Change and Land Cover Change in Eco-Hydrologic Modeling (Snowmelt Timing and Dissolved Organic Carbon Fluxes) (Doctoral dissertation, University of Massachusetts Boston). https://search.proquest.com/docview/2051781784?accountid=12187
- Running, S. W., & Coughlan, J. C. (1988). A general model of forest ecosystem processes for regional applications I. Hydrologic balance, canopy gas exchange and primary production processes. *Ecological modelling*, 42(2), 125-154. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3800(88)90112-3
- Running, S. W., & Hunt Jr, E. R. (1993). Generalization of a forest ecosystem process model for other biomes, BIOME-BCG, and an application for global-scale models. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-233440-5.50014-2
- Running, S., &M.Zhao, Q. M. (2015). MOD17A3H MODIS/Terra Net Primary Production Yearly L4 Global 500m SIN Grid V006. NASA EOSDIS Land Processes DAAC. https://doi.org/10.5067/MODIS/MOD17A3H.006

- Ryan, M. G. (1991). A simple method for estimating gross carbon budgets for vegetation in forest ecosystems. *Tree physiology*, 9(1-2), 255-266. , https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/9.1-2.255
- Saidy, A. R., Smernik, R. J., Baldock, J. A., Kaiser, K., & Sanderman, J. (2013). The sorption of organic carbon onto differing clay minerals in the presence and absence of hydrous iron oxide. *Geoderma*, 209, 15-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2013.05.026
- Schwalm, M., &Zeitz, J. (2014). Dissolved organic carbon concentrations vary with season and land use–investigations from two fens in Northeastern Germany over two years. *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 11(5), 7079-7111. https://doi.org/10.5194/bgd-11-7079-2014
- Sierra, C. A., Trumbore, S. E., Davidson, E. A., Vicca, S., & Janssens, I. (2015). Sensitivity of decomposition rates of soil organic matter with respect to simultaneous changes in temperature and moisture. *Journal of Advances in Modeling Earth Systems*, 7(1), 335-356. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014MS000358
- Soosaar, K., Ü. Mander, M. Maddison, A. Kanal, A. Kull, K. Lõhmus, J. Truu, and J. Augustin. 2011. Dynamics of gaseous nitrogen and carbon fluxes in riparian alder forests. Ecological Engineering 37:40–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2010.07.025
- Srinivasarao, C. H., Venkateswarlu, B., Lal, R., Singh, A. K., Kundu, S., Vittal, K. P. R., ...& Patel, M. M. (2014). Long-term manuring and fertilizer effects on depletion of soil organic carbon stocks under pearl millet-cluster bean-castor rotation in western India. *Land Degradation & Development*, 25(2), 173-183. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.1158
- Stasko, A. D., Gunn, J. M., & Johnston, T. A. (2012). Role of ambient light in structuring north-temperate fish communities: potential effects of increasing dissolved organic carbon concentration with a changing climate. Environmental Reviews, 20(3), 173-190. https://10.1139/a2012-010
- Stocking, M. A. (2003). Tropical soils and food security: the next 50 years. *Science*, *302*(5649), 1356-1359. https://10.1126/science.1088579
- Stockmann, U., Adams, M. A., Crawford, J. W., Field, D. J., Henakaarchchi, N., Jenkins, M., ...& Zimmermann, M. (2013). The knowns, known unknowns and unknowns of sequestration of soil organic carbon. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 164, 80-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2012.10.001
- Strohmeier, S., Knorr, K. H., Reichert, M., Frei, S., Fleckenstein, J. H., Peiffer, S., & Matzner, E. (2013). Concentrations and fluxes of dissolved organic carbon in runoff from a forested catchment: insights from high frequency measurements. *Biogeosciences*, 10(2), 905. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-905-2013
- Sucker, C., & Krause, K. (2010). Increasing dissolved organic carbon concentrations in freshwaters: what is the actual driver?.*iForest-Biogeosciences and Forestry*, 3(4), 106-108. https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor0546-003
- Taggart, M., Heitman, J. L., Shi, W., & Vepraskas, M. (2012). Temperature and water content effects on carbon mineralization for sapric soil material. *Wetlands*, 32(5), 939-944.

- Tague, C. L., & Band, L. E. (2004). RHESSys: Regional Hydro-Ecologic Simulation System—An object-oriented approach to spatially distributed modeling of carbon, water, and nutrient cycling. *Earth interactions*, 8(19), 1-42. https://doi.org/10.1175/1087-3562(2004)8<1:RRHSSO>2.0.CO;2
- Taiwan, E. P. A. (1994). Cation-Exchange Capacity of Soils (Sodium Acetate). *Method NIEA S*, 202, 60A.
- Tetzlaff, D., Souls, C., Buttle, J., Capell, R., Carey, S. K., Laudon, H., ...&Shanley, J. (2013). Catchments on the cusp? Structural and functional change in northern ecohydrology. *Hydrological Processes*, 27(5), 766-774. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.9700
- Thornton, P. E. (1998). Regional ecosystem simulation: combining surface-and satellitebased observations to study linkages between terrestrial energy and mass budgets. https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd/10519
- Van Dijk, A. I. J. M., Bruijnzeel, L. A., & Rosewell, C. J. (2002). Rainfall intensity– kinetic energy relationships: a critical literature appraisal. *Journal of Hydrology*, 261(1-4), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(02)00020-3
- Wang, G., Mang, S., Cai, H., Liu, S., Zhang, Z., Wang, L., & Innes, J. L. (2016). Integrated watershed management: evolution, development and emerging trends. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 27(5), 967-994.
- Wasige, J. E., Groen, T. A., Rwamukwaya, B. M., Tumwesigye, W., Smaling, E. M. A., & Jetten, V. (2014). Contemporary land use/land cover types determine soil organic carbon stocks in south-west Rwanda. *Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems*, 100(1), 19-33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10705-014-9623-z
- Webster, J. R., Benfield, E. F., Ehrman, T. P., Schaeffer, M. A., Tank, J. L., Hutchens, J. J., &D'angelo, D. J. (1999). What happens to allochthonous material that falls into streams? A synthesis of new and published information from Coweeta. *Freshwater Biology*, 41(4), 687-705. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.1999.00409.x
- Wen, X. F., Yu, G. R., Sun, X. M., Li, Q. K., Liu, Y. F., Zhang, L. M., ... & Li, Z. Q. (2006). Soil moisture effect on the temperature dependence of ecosystem respiration in a subtropical Pinus plantation of southeastern China. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 137(3-4), 166-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.02.005
- Were, K., Bui, D. T., Dick, Ø. B., & Singh, B. R. (2015). A comparative assessment of support vector regression, artificial neural networks, and random forests for predicting and mapping soil organic carbon stocks across an Afromontane landscape. *Ecological Indicators*, 52, 394-403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2014.12.028
- Wigmosta, M. S., Vail, L. W., &Lettenmaier, D. P. (1994). A distributed hydrologyvegetation model for complex terrain. *Water resources research*, *30*(6), 1665-1680. https://doi.org/10.1029/94WR00436
- Williams, C. J., Yamashita, Y., Wilson, H. F., Jaffé, R., &Xenopoulos, M. A. (2010). Unraveling the role of land use and microbial activity in shaping dissolved organic matter characteristics in stream ecosystems. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 55(3), 1159-1171. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2010.55.3.1159
- Wu, H., Peng, C., Moore, T. R., Hua, D., Li, C., Zhu, Q., ... & Guo, Z. (2014). Modeling dissolved organic carbon in temperate forest soils: TRIPLEX-DOC model

development and validation. *Geoscientific Model Development*, 7(3), 867-881. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-7-867-2014

- Xu, N., Saiers, J. E., Wilson, H. F., & Raymond, P. A. (2012). Simulating streamflow and dissolved organic matter export from a forested watershed. *Water Resources Research*, 48(5). https://doi.org/10.1029/2011WR011423
- Yang, Y. (2005). Can the strengths of AIC and BIC be shared? A conflict between model indentification and regression estimation. *Biometrika*, 92(4), 937-950. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/92.4.937
- Yang, Y., Schaaf, C., Tague, C., Tenenbaum, D. E., Wang, Z., Douglas, E. M., ... & Hwang, T. (2013, December). Sensitivity analysis and simulation for DOC concentration and flux in the stream in the regional hydro-ecological simulation system (RHESSys). In AGU Fall Meeting Abstracts.
- Yurova, A., Sirin, A., Buffam, I., Bishop, K., & Laudon, H. (2008). Modeling the dissolved organic carbon output from a boreal mire using the convection-dispersion equation: Importance of representing sorption. *Water Resources Research*, 44, n/an/a. https://doi.org/10.1029/2007WR006523
- Zhang, M. K., S. A. Zheng, and L. P. Wang. 2007. Chemical forms and distributions of organic carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus in sandy soil aggregate fractions as affected by land uses. Scientia Agricultura Sinica 40:1703–1711.
- Zhang, M., He, Z., Zhao, A., Zhang, H., Endale, D. M., & Schomberg, H. H. (2011). Water-extractable soil organic carbon and nitrogen affected by tillage and manure application. *Soil Science*, 176(6), 307-312. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1097/SS.0b013e31821d6d63.
- Zimmerman, A. R., Gao, B., & Ahn, M. Y. (2011). Positive and negative carbon mineralization priming effects among a variety of biochar-amended soils. *Soil biology and biochemistry*, 43(6), 1169-1179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.02.005
- Zou, X. M., Ruan, H. H., Fu, Y., Yang, X. D., & Sha, L. Q. (2005). Estimating soil labile organic carbon and potential turnover rates using a sequential fumigation-incubation procedure. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 37(10), 1923-1928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.02.028

Avhandlingar från Institutionen för naturgeografi och ekosystemanalys (INES), Lunds universitet

Dissertations from Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, University of Lund

Martin Sjöström, 2012: Satellite remote sensing of primary production in semi-arid Africa.

Zhenlin Yang, 2012: Small-scale climate variability and its ecosystem impacts in the sub-Arctic.

Ara Toomanian, 2012: Methods to improve and evaluate spatial data infrastructures.

Michal Heliasz, 2012: Spatial and temporal dynamics of subarctic birch forest carbon exchange.

Abdulghani Hasan, 2012: Spatially distributed hydrological modelling: wetness derived from digital elevation models to estimate peatland carbon.

Julia Bosiö, 2013: A green future with thawing permafrost mires?: a study of climate-vegetation interactions in European subarctic peatlands. (Lic.)

Anders Ahlström, 2013: Terrestrial ecosystem interactions with global climate and socio-economics.

Kerstin Baumanns, 2013: Drivers of global land use change: are increasing demands for food and bioenergy offset by technological change and yield increase? (Lic.)

Yengoh Genesis Tambang, 2013: Explaining agricultural yield gaps in Cameroon.

Jörgen Olofsson, 2013: The Earth: climate and anthropogenic interactions in a long time perspective.

David Wårlind, 2013: The role of carbon-nitrogen interactions for terrestrial ecosystem dynamics under global change: a modelling perspective.

Elin Sundqvist, 2014: Methane exchange in a boreal forest: the role of soils, vegetation and forest management.

Julie Mari Falk, 2014: Plant-soil-herbivore interactions in a high Arctic wetland: feedbacks to the carbon cycle.

Finn Hedefalk, 2014: Life histories across space and time: methods for including geographic factors on the micro-level in longitudinal demographic research. (Lic.)

Sadegh Jamali, 2014: Analyzing vegetation trends with sensor data from earth observation satellites.

Cecilia Olsson, 2014: Tree phenology modelling in the boreal and temperate climate zones : timing of spring and autumn events.

Jing Tang, 2014: Linking distributed hydrological processes with ecosystem vegetation dynamics and carbon cycling: modelling studies in a subarctic catchment of northern Sweden.

Wenxin Zhang, 2015: The role of biogeophysical feedbacks and their impacts in the arctic and boreal climate system.

Lina Eklund, 2015: "No Friends but the Mountains": understanding population mobility and land dynamics in Iraqi Kurdistan.

Stefan Olin, 2015: Ecosystems in the Anthropocene: the role of cropland management for carbon and nitrogen cycle processes.

Thomas Möckel, 2015: Hyperspectral and multispectral remote sensing for mapping grassland vegetation.

Hongxiao Jin, 2015: Remote sensing phenology at European northern latitudes: from ground spectral towers to satellites.

Bakhtiyor Pulatov, 2015: Potential impact of climate change on European agriculture: a case study of potato and Colorado potato beetle.

Christian Stiegler, 2016: Surface energy exchange and land-atmosphere interactions of Arctic and subarctic tundra ecosystems under climate change.

Per-Ola Olsson, 2016: Monitoring insect defoliation in forests with time-series of satellite based remote sensing data: near real-time methods and impact on the carbon balance.

Jonas Dalmayne, 2016: Monitoring biodiversity in cultural landscapes: development of remote sensing- and GIS-based methods.

Balathandayuthabani Panneer Selvam, 2016: Reactive dissolved organic carbon dynamics in a changing environment: experimental evidence from soil and water.

Kerstin Engström, 2016: Pathways to future cropland: assessing uncertainties in socioeconomic processes by applying a global land-use model.

Finn Hedefalk, 2016: Life paths through space and time: adding the micro-level geographic context to longitudinal historical demographic research.

Ehsan Abdolmajidi, 2016: Modeling and improving Spatial Data Infrastructure (SDI).

Giuliana Zanchi, 2016: Modelling nutrient transport from forest ecosystems to surface waters.

Florian Sallaba, 2016: Biophysical and human controls of land productivity under global change: development and demonstration of parsimonious modelling techniques.

Norbert Pirk, 2017: Tundra meets atmosphere: seasonal dynamics of trace gas exchange in the High Arctic.

Minchao Wu, 2017: Land-atmosphere interactions and regional Earth system dynamics due to natural and anthropogenic vegetation changes.

Niklas Boke-Olén, 2017: Global savannah phenology: integrating earth observation, ecosystem modelling, and PhenoCams.

Abdulhakim M. Abdi, 2017: Primary production in African drylands: quantifying supply and demand using earth observation and socio-ecological data.

Nitin Chaudhary, 2017: Peatland dynamics in response to past and potential future climate change.

Ylva van Meeningen, 2017: Is genetic diversity more important for terpene emissions than latitudinal adaptation?: using genetically identical trees to better understand emission fluctuations across a European latitudinal gradient.

Patrik Vestin, 2017: Effects of forest management on greenhouse gas fluxes in a boreal forest.

Mohammadreza Rajabi, 2017: Spatial modeling and simulation for disease surveillance.

Jan Blanke, 2018: European ecosystems on a changing planet: integrating climate change and land-use intensity data.

Min Wang, 2018: Characteristics of BVOC emissions from a Swedish boreal forest: using chambers to capture biogenic volatile organic compounds (BVOCs) from trees and forest floor.

Wilhelm Dubber, 2018: Natural and social dimensions of forest carbon accounting.

Emma Johansson, 2018: Large-Scale Land Acquisitions as a Driver of Socio-Environmental Change: From the Pixel to the Globe.

Helen Eriksson, 2018: Harmonisation of geographic data: between geographic levels, hierarcic structures and over time. (Lic.)

Zhendong Wu, 2018: Modelling the terrestrial carbon cycle: drivers, benchmarks, and model-data fusion.

Zhanzhang Cai, 2019: Vegetation observation in the big data era: Sentinel-2 data for mapping the seasonality of land vegetation.

Fabien Rizinjirabake, 2019: Dissolved organic carbon in tropical watersheds: linking field observation and ecohydrological modelling.



Landscape of the study area



Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science Faculty of Science



ISBN 978-91-985016-1-2